In the Supreme Court of the State of California

**PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA,**

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

**MIAMI NATION ENTERPRISES, ET
AL.,**

**Defendants and
Respondents.**

Case No. S216878

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUL 28 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B242644

Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles

Case No. BC373536

Yvette M. Palazuelos, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
EDWARD C. DUMONT
Solicitor General
SARA J. DRAKE
Senior Assistant Attorney General
JANILL L. RICHARDS
Principal Deputy Solicitor General

MARY ANN SMITH
Deputy Commissioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Can a business—here, an Internet-based payday loan company exacting triple-digit interest rates from its customers—establish tribal sovereign immunity, and thus avoid enforcement of California’s consumer protection laws, simply by making a showing that it is formally affiliated with a federally recognized Indian tribe?

2. May a court look behind the evidence of formal tribal affiliation to determine whether the tribe exercises actual control, management, and oversight of the business and, if not, reject the business’s assertion of tribal sovereign immunity on that basis?

INTRODUCTION

As a sovereign, a federally recognized Indian tribe is immune from suit in both state and federal courts, unless the tribe has waived its immunity or consented to suit or Congress has authorized the action. Both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have observed that an instrumentality or “arm” of a tribe shares in that tribe’s immunity. (See *Inyo County, Cal. v. Paiute-Shoshone Indians of the Bishop Community of the Bishop Colony* (2003) 538 U.S. 701, 705, fn. 1; *Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians v. Superior Court* (2006) 40 Cal.4th 239, 247-248 (*Agua Caliente*)). To date, however, neither court has set out a test to determine arm-of-the-tribe status, and the lower federal and state courts have developed a variety of conflicting approaches. This case offers an opportunity to clarify the law for California and to establish persuasive authority for other jurisdictions confronting this difficult issue.

The present matter involves a consumer enforcement action brought by the People of the State of California against five Internet cash-advance or “payday” lenders. In ruling on the payday lenders’ renewed motion to quash, the Court of Appeal surveyed the case law and devised yet another

arm-of-the-tribe test. That test gave effectively dispositive weight to paper connections between the Tribe and the payday lenders and to tribal statements of intent to confer immunity. Further, the Court of Appeal required the People to prove a negative—that the payday lenders were *not* arms of tribes. Applying its test, the court affirmed dismissal of the People’s action, preventing California from ensuring that these particular payday lenders, in their dealings with the State’s consumers, comply with the State’s consumer finance laws.

The Court of Appeal’s approach to determining arm-of-the-tribe status does not comport with the purposes of sovereign immunity. Immunity is not a benefit that a sovereign may confer on a third party simply by stating its intent to do so. Rather, immunity is a legal protection the law recognizes for the sovereign itself, serving to protect the sovereign’s fisc and its right to direct its governmental affairs. A valid arm-of-the-tribe test must ensure that a tribe’s immunity extends to an entity only where that entity is, in certain essential respects, so closely connected to and aligned with the tribal sovereign that a suit against the entity is in practical effect a suit against the tribe itself.

Because state and tribal sovereignty share fundamental similarities, in clarifying the arm-of-the-tribe doctrine, this Court should look to the comparatively cohesive body of law concerning the immunity of entities claiming to be arms of states. In general, whatever their precise factors, tests for arm-of-the-state status focus on the actual connection, identity of interest, and control between the sovereign and the entity. Applying the logic of arm-of-the-state cases to tribal circumstances produces a sensible, practical, and fair test for arm-of-the-tribe status. That test takes into account three considerations grounded in the purposes of sovereign immunity: (1) the financial relationship between the entity and the tribe; (2) whether the entity serves central governmental functions; and (3) whether

the tribal government exercises actual, practical control over the entity's operations. Further, the overwhelming weight of the law treats arm-of-the-state status as an affirmative defense, thus placing the burden of proof on the entity seeking immunity. An entity claiming arm-of-the-tribe status should bear the same burden.

As set out in greater detail below, while much is unknown or unclear on the present record, it is undisputed that the entities standing behind the payday-lending trade names at issue here—MNE Services, Inc. and SFS, Inc.—are corporations. The resulting limited liability of the corporations' shareholders—Miami Nation Enterprises, a parent corporation owned by the Miami Tribe of Oklahoma (Miami Tribe), and the Santee Sioux Nation of Nebraska (Santee Sioux Nation)—weighs against immunity.¹ Further, it appears that recognizing arm-of-the-tribe status for these corporations would protect primarily the revenue streams of third parties who have no relationship with or responsibility to the Tribes and their members. Protecting private economic interests is not the purpose of sovereign immunity. Finally, evidence resulting from a Federal Trade Commission (FTC) investigation into payday lending suggests that, in practice, the entities' purse strings and key financial decisions are left in the hands of private third parties and are not meaningfully controlled or overseen by the Tribes. Applying the considerations articulated above, and on the existing record, the entities have not established that they should be accorded sovereign immunity as arms of the Tribes.

¹ The Court of Appeal's Opinion refers to Miami Nation Enterprises as "MNE." The People will spell out Miami Nation Enterprises when referring to that entity to avoid confusion with MNE Services, Inc. In addition, the People refer to both Tribes using their current official names. (79 Fed. Reg. 4748, 4750, 4751 (Jan. 20, 2014).)

STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

On March 3, 2014, the People timely sought review of the Court of Appeal's final decision of January 21, 2014 (Opinion), which affirmed the superior court's May 10, 2012 order granting the renewed motion to quash service of the summons and complaint and dismissing the complaint. (25 CT 6074 [notice of appeal]; 24 CT 5754-5769 [order].)² An order granting a motion to quash service of summons is appealable pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 904.1, subdivision (a)(3).

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

I. STATE AND FEDERAL GOVERNMENTS TAKE ACTION TO PROTECT CONSUMERS OF PAYDAY LENDING SERVICES

As the Court of Appeal noted, citing a study from the Pew Charitable Trusts,

12 million Americans take out payday loans each year, spending approximately \$7.4 billion annually. The average loan is \$375. The average borrower is in debt for five months during the year, spending \$520 in interest to repeatedly renew the loan.

(Opinion, at pp. 2-3, fn. 2.)³ Further, while payday loans are marketed as a way to bridge a gap until the borrower's next paycheck, in practice they often lead to longer-term debt. "Sixty-nine percent of first-time borrowers

² This brief uses the following references to the record, preceded by the volume number and followed by the page number:

CT = Clerk's Transcript;

SCT = Supplemental Clerk's Transcript;

SSCT = Second Supplemental Clerk's Transcript.

³ The Pew Charitable Trusts' *Payday Lending in America* series is available at <<http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/collections/payday-lending-in-america>> [as of July 23, 2014].

use the loan for recurring bills, including rent or utilities; only 16 percent use them to deal with an unexpected expense such as a car repair.” (*Id.*)

The volume and circumstances of payday lending highlight the need to protect consumers through effective government oversight and enforcement. California is among the many states that have enacted statutes regulating consumer finance practices, including payday lending.⁴ The People brought this action to enforce the State’s payday lending statutes. (See Fin. Code, § 23000 et seq.)⁵

While there are no federal laws that specifically target payday lending, the FTC has investigated and filed enforcement actions against payday lenders using the Federal Trade Commission Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58) (prohibiting deceptive trade practices) and the Truth in Lending Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 1601-1667f) (requiring specific disclosures in lending documents). On April 2, 2012, the FTC filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada against 19 defendants, including MNE Services, Inc. and SFS, Inc. (See *FTC v. AMG Services, Inc.* (D.Nev. May 28, 2014, No. 2:12cv536) __ F.Supp.2d __ [2014 WL 2927148].) To date, the FTC has prevailed against MNE Services, Inc., SFS, Inc., and other related defendants on certain claims related to misleading website

⁴ See Papke, *Perpetuating Poverty: Exploitative Businesses, the Urban Poor, and the Failure of Reform* (2014) 16 Scholar: St. Mary’s L. Rev. & Soc. Just. 223, 248; see also <<http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/multimedia/data-visualizations/2014/state-payday-loan-regulation-and-usage-rates>> [as of July 24, 2014].

⁵ Payday lenders doing business in California must be licensed by the State. (Fin. Code, § 23005, subd. (a).) Further, the State requires written loan contracts disclosing the fee as an Annual Percentage Rate (APR); limits payday loan amounts to \$300; limits loan fees to 15 percent of the loan amount; and prohibits multiple, simultaneous loans to the same consumer. (Fin. Code, §§ 23001, subd. (a); 23035, subds. (a), (e)(1); 23036, subds. (a), (c).)

statements and inaccurate disclosures. Additional claims remain pending. (*Id.* at *4-5, 14-15.)⁶

In the face of increased enforcement, some online payday lenders have sought tribal affiliation in an effort to take advantage of tribal immunity, promising some share of revenues in return. (See Martin & Schwartz, *The Alliance Between Payday Lenders and Tribes: Are Both Tribal Sovereignty and Consumer Protection at Risk?* (hereinafter, Martin) (2012) 69 Wash. & Lee L. Rev. 751, 754-755, 763, 766-777; see also Harte and Zuckerman Bernstein (June 17, 2014) *Payday Nation, Part I*.)⁷ The amount a given tribe actually receives in any specific affiliation deal will vary, but at least one commentary has noted that a tribe's share of revenues often amounts to "crumbs." (Martin, *supra*, at p. 767.)

II. CONSUMER COMPLAINTS SPUR DEPARTMENT ENFORCEMENT AGAINST THE PAYDAY LENDERS

Roughly a decade ago, in 2004, the California Department of Corporations, predecessor agency to the California Department of Business Oversight, began receiving complaints from California consumers who had taken out payday loans over the Internet. One early complaint about Ameriloan is typical. The consumer applied for a loan online. Money quickly appeared in his bank account, but without any information about the lender or how to repay the loan. (17 CT 3908.) He "tried to look them up online, but could not find the same company" (*Ibid.*) The

⁶ The district court did not have occasion to determine whether MNE Services, Inc. and SFS, Inc. would be immune as arms of tribes. The court held that under the FTC Act, Congress granted FTC the authority to regulate tribes. (*FTC v. AMG Services, Inc., et al.* (D. Nev. 2012) No. 2:12cv536, Doc. No. 559 (filed 03/07/14).)

⁷ *Payday Nation Part I* is available at <<http://projects.aljazeera.com/2014/payday-nation/index.html>> [as of July 24, 2014].

consumer concluded that “this company intentionally keeps you from knowing who has funded the loan and what the terms are . . . so that they can collect as many fees by ‘automatically renewing the loan’ as they can before you are even aware that they are doing it.” (*Ibid.*; see also 3 SSCT 638 [discussing extended history of complaints].) Any delay in repaying a payday loan may have serious consequences, as effective annual interest rates in the range of 300 to 400 percent are not unusual. (See Opinion at pp. 2-3, fn. 2.)

The Department investigated and determined that a number of Internet payday lending operations were violating California law. On August 22, 2006, the Department’s Commissioner issued a Desist and Refrain Order to certain payday lenders requiring the businesses to come into compliance. (16 CT 3864-3868.)⁸ Having no additional information about these businesses’ legal status or structure, the Department issued the order using the names listed on their websites—Ameriloan, United Cash Loans, USFastCash, and Preferred Cash Loans. (16 CT 3864.)

III. THE PAYDAY LENDERS IGNORE THE DEPARTMENT’S DESIST AND REFRAIN ORDER; THE PEOPLE FILE SUIT

Faced with the Payday Lenders’ continued non-compliance, and spurred by mounting complaints, in June 2007 the People brought an enforcement action against five Internet payday lenders, identifying each by its website name: Ameriloan, UnitedCashLoans, USFastCash, OneClickCash, and PreferredCashLoans (collectively, the Payday Lenders).⁹ The People alleged that the Payday Lenders charged fees

⁸ See Fin. Code, § 23050.

⁹ See Gov. Code, § 11180; Fin. Code, § 23051, subd. (a). A screenshot of the representative Ameriloan website taken May 18, 2007, is attached. (See Attachment at p. 1, 4 SSCT 729.)

exceeding the amounts permitted under California law, failed to provide required loan notices, were operating without a license, and were violating the Desist and Refrain Order. The complaint sought injunctive relief, restitution, and civil penalties. (1 CT 38-39.)

As of June 2007, the Payday Lenders' websites—the sole method by which consumers applied for loans—reflected only these businesses' trade names. (4 SSCT 729-733, 735-738, 739-740, 742-745, 753-754.)

Therefore, the complaint designated each Payday Lender as “a business organization, form unknown” and, alternatively a corporation, a limited liability company, or a partnership. (1 CT 27; see also 4 SSCT at 28-29.)

IV. THE PAYDAY LENDERS ASSERT ARM-OF-THE-TRIBE STATUS AND CLAIM IMMUNITY

On July 30, 2007, the superior court issued a temporary restraining order against the Payday Lenders. (See 1 CT 48.) Shortly thereafter, the businesses appeared specially, one group asserting that they were instrumentalities or “arms” of the Miami Tribe (Ameriloan, UnitedCashLoans, and USFastCash) (1 CT 47-53) and the other claiming the same relationship with the Santee Sioux Nation (OneClickCash and PreferredCashLoans) (1 CT 67-68). The businesses contended that they were therefore entitled to invoke these Tribes' sovereign immunity. This was the State's first notice that these businesses claimed any tribal connection.

V. EVIDENCE CONCERNING THE PAYDAY LENDERS' STATUS AS ARMS OF TRIBES

The following factual summary is based on what the People know or understand from the evidence presently available.

A. Use and Registration of the Payday Lenders' Marks

The best available evidence concerning what entities actually own and are legally responsible for the Payday Lender businesses is the history of the ownership and use of the relevant marks.

Between May and July of 2004, a Kansas limited liability company named CLK Management, LLC (CLK) applied to register a number of marks with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for businesses providing payday loans. (23 CT 5529-5533; 24 CT 5704-5708, 5720-5721, 5620-5621.)¹⁰ These businesses included four of the five Payday Lenders: Ameriloan, UnitedCashLoans, USFastCash, and OneClickCash. (23 CT 5529-5533; 24 CT 5704-5708, 5720-5724, 5620-5624.) According to the registration documents, some of the trademarks had been in use since 2002. (23 CT 5539-5541; 24 CT 5704-5705, 5720-5724, 5620-5624.) An individual named Scott Tucker was listed as CLK's President and signed the registration documents. (23 CT 5530; 24 CT 5621, 5705, 5721.)¹¹ The record contains no evidence that CLK had or has any tribal affiliation.

The name PreferredCashLoans has never been registered with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. (People's Request for Judicial Notice (RJN), Ex. J.)

Websites using the Payday Lenders' marks are all currently active. (RJN, Exs. A-E.)

¹⁰ The citations are to exhibits to the declaration of FTC investigator Victoria M. L. Budich. (See 18 CT 4149-4191 [text of declaration]; 18 CT 4193 through 24 CT 5748 [exhibits].)

¹¹ Scott Tucker is a defendant in the FTC's enforcement action. His role in the Payday Lenders' operations is discussed further below.

B. SFS, Inc.

1. Public information regarding SFS, Inc.'s ownership and use of marks OneClickCash and PreferredCashLoans

In September 2006—one month after the issuance of the Desist and Refrain Order, and approximately nine months before this case was filed—CLK conveyed the OneClickCash trademark to an entity named SFS, Inc. (24 CT 5630-5632.) SFS, Inc. retained ownership of the mark in May 2012, when the superior court ruled on the renewed motion to quash. (24 CT 5754; 18 CT 4189-4190 [Budich Decl., ¶ 95].) The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office website reflects that SFS, Inc. is still the owner of the OneClickCash mark. (RJN, Ex. I.) In 2007, OneClickCash's Web site did not state any tribal affiliation. (4 SSCT 739-740 [screenshot].)¹² The website now claims affiliation with the Santee Sioux Nation through SFS, Inc. (RJN, Ex. D.)

As noted, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office has no records relating to PreferredCashLoans. (RJN, Ex. J.) The current website for PreferredCashLoans does not assert a connection to SFS, Inc. or the Santee Sioux Nation. (RJN, Ex. E.)

2. SFS Inc.'s creation, formation documents, and governing laws

SFS, Inc. is a corporation created under the procedures and laws of the Santee Sioux Nation. In February 2005, the Santee Sioux Tribal Council, the Tribe's governing body, passed a resolution incorporating SFS, Inc. "pursuant to the laws of the Santee Sioux Nation." (4 SSCT 771

¹² This citation is to an exhibit to the declaration of Department examiner Peter Mock. (See 3 SSCT 634-638 [text of declaration]; 3 SSCT 639 through 4 SSCT 754 [exhibits].)

[Constitution], 800-801.)¹³ The resolution authorized SFS, Inc. to engage in “short-term loans and cash advance services (‘payday loans’),” stating that “it is in the best interest of the Tribe to establish a tribally-owned corporation to facilitate the achievement of goals relating to the Tribal economy, self-government, and sovereign status of the Santee Sioux Nation.” (4 SSCT 800.) SFS, Inc.’s original Articles of Incorporation (Articles) were attached to the resolution. (4 SSCT 800, 802-806.) Amended Articles were issued in June 2008. (4 SSCT 808-812.)

As set out in the Articles, the Tribe owns all shares of SFS, Inc. (4 SSCT 802, 808.) The Articles state that SFS’s Inc.’s Board of Directors consists of the Tribal Council and that the Board “shall manage” the corporation. (4 SSCT 803, 809.) The Articles do not define what such management entails.

Pursuant to its Articles and the Tribe’s Business Corporation Code, SFS, Inc. has the usual attributes of a corporation. The Tribe as shareholder, the Tribal Council, and SFS, Inc.’s officers or directors cannot be held liable to SFS, Inc.’s creditors. (5 SSCT 913 [Santee Sioux Tribe of Nebraska Business Corporation Code (BCC), § 11-1022], 915 [BCC § 11-1092].) Any recovery against SFS, Inc. is limited to its assets. (5 SSCT 912 [BCC § 11-1003, subd. (3)(b)].) The Articles require SFS, Inc. to maintain bank accounts in its own name and to hold its funds separate from those of any other person or entity. (4 SSCT 804, 810.)

Additionally, pursuant to its Articles and tribal law, SFS, Inc. also possesses typical corporate powers and privileges. (See 4 SSCT 802-806, 808-812; 5 SSCT 912 [BCC § 11-1003, subd. (3)].) The corporation has its

¹³ The citations to documents in this subsection are to exhibits of the declaration of Robert Campbell. (See 4 SSCT 761-767 [text of declaration]; 4 SSCT 769 through 5 SSCT 970 [exhibits].)

own assets, funds, and property interests, as well as “the authority to acquire, manage, own, use, pledge, encumber, or otherwise dispose of” such property, “subject to the contractual and sovereign rights of others, including the Tribe.” (5 SSCT 914 [BBC § 11-1030, subd. (1)].) It appears that, under tribal law, SFS, Inc. as a corporation has the power to sue in its own name. (See 5 SSCT 907 [BBC § 11-783, transferring right to sue in corporation’s name to officers, etc., on dissolution].) The corporation has authority to consent to be sued, provided that the consent is explicit, is contained in a written contract or commercial document that names the corporation as a party, and is specifically approved by the Board of Directors, and that any recovery is limited to the corporation’s assets. (5 SSCT 912 [BCC § 11-1003, subd. (3)].) The Articles express an intention that SFS, Inc. share in the Tribe’s immunity (see 4 SSCT 805, 811), but the corporation may not waive that immunity to allow recourse beyond the corporation’s separate assets (4 SSCT 800).

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