IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

---

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

MIAMI NATION ENTERPRISES, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

CASE NO. S216878

SUPREME COURT  
FILED

OCT 03 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

---

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division 7

Case No. B242644

Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles

Case No. BC373536

Hon. Yvette M. Palazuelos, Judge

---

**RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF**

---

Fredericks Peebles & Morgan LLP  
John Nyhan (SBN 51257)  
2020 L Street, Suite 250  
Sacramento, California 95811  
Telephone: 916-441-2700  
Facsimile: 916-441-2067  
jnyhan@ndnlaw.com

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

### ARGUMENT

The question of whether an entity constitutes an arm of a federally-recognized Indian tribe is governed by longstanding principles of federal Indian law, which the United States Supreme Court, lower federal courts and California courts have refined and elaborated based upon the unique nature of tribal sovereigns. As such, this Court should proceed rationally and according to those binding and persuasive authorities.

The State's arguments, which are a series of clumsy and misleading maneuvers, turn this rational and principled process on its head. After seven years of litigating these issues under accepted federal Indian law authorities and precedent in California, the State recognizes that it cannot prevail under the controlling sovereign immunity analysis. Instead, the State abruptly reverses course at the eleventh hour, and urges this Court to throw out both long-standing principles governing tribal sovereign immunity (including principles that the State itself advocated in the courts below) and the well-established burden of proof in these jurisdictional challenges and replace them with a new test that has never been applied in tribal sovereign immunity cases and contravenes binding Indian law. This Court should not do so.

The State ignores that existing federal Indian law principles and California law interpreting those principles have guided every motion, hearing, and order in this proceeding until now, and its effort to challenge these fundamental legal concepts for the first time on review to this Court is astounding. The State cannot justify its radical diversion that flouts the

general rule that “matters not raised in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” (4 Cal. Jur. 3d Appellate Review (2014) § 257.)

To mount its improper legal challenge, the State manufactures from whole cloth a purported conflict in arm-of-the-tribe jurisprudence that simply does not exist. The State glosses over myriad case law, both federal and California, that squarely analyzes the essential questions that should be considered in determining whether a tribal instrumentality is an arm of its Indian tribe. Those cases, which highlight the importance of applying federal Indian law to this analysis, were the foundations upon which both the trial court and the Court of Appeal ruled below. The federal circuit courts have uniformly agreed that arm-of-the-tribe immunity is governed by settled principles of federal Indian law (see *White v. University of California* (9th Cir. Aug. 27, 2014, No. 12-17489) \_\_\_ F.3d \_\_\_ [2014 WL 4211421] (hereafter *White*); *Breakthrough, supra*, 629 F.3d 1173), and their analysis is consistent with California arm-of-the-tribe jurisprudence.

Tellingly, the “test” that the State has concocted to enable it to look at extraneous factors and evidence to avoid tribal sovereign immunity, is completely disconnected from controlling tribal sovereign immunity principles. Its application would not only contravene well-recognized federal tribal immunity authority, but it would violate controlling United States Supreme Court precedent. The State offers no legal authority for its proposed evisceration of tribal sovereign immunity principles, and its efforts to rewrite the law should be rejected.

Based upon the controlling analyses of arm-of-the-tribe sovereign immunity—the core elements of which both the trial court and the Court of Appeal properly recognized and applied—and the *undisputed* evidence relevant to this analysis, the lower courts correctly found that SFS and MNES constitute arms of their respective Tribes and are protected from the



State's enforcement action by tribal sovereign immunity. For these reasons, the opinion of the Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

**I. The State Cannot Raise New Issues, Arguments and Standards for the First Time in Its Appeal to this Court**

It "is well settled that the theory upon which a case is tried must be adhered to on appeal." (*Ernst v. Searle* (1933) 218 Cal. 233, 240.) A change in theory will only be permitted on appeal "when a question of law only is presented on the facts appearing in the record." (*Ward v. Taggart* (1959) 51 Cal.2d 736, 742.) This rule derives from the underlying principle that "the opposing party should not be required to defend for the first time on appeal against a new theory that contemplates a factual situation the consequences of which are open to controversy and were not put in issue or presented at the trial." (*Ibid.* [internal quotations omitted]; *see also Ernst v. Searle, supra*, 218 Cal. at pp. 241-42 [holding that to permit a party to change his position on appeal "would not only be unfair to the trial court, but manifestly unjust to the opposing litigant"].) This doctrine applies equally to appeals from matters reviewed for abuse of discretion (see, e.g., *Perez v. Grajales* (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 580, 591-92) as it does to appeals from matters reviewed *de novo* (see, e.g., *Winchester Mystery House, LLC v. Global Asylum, Inc.* (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 579, 593-95; *Zimmerman, Rosenfeld, Gersh & Leeds LLP v. Larson* (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 1466, 1488-89; *McDonalds Corp. v. Board of Sup'rs* (1998) 63 Cal.App.4th 612, 617-18).

Although the State has attempted throughout its Opening Brief to suggest that the adoption of its new "test" is a pure legal issue, insisting at one point that this Court could rule on the "existing record" (AOB at p. 3), the reality is that the new "test" contemplates new "facts" that are not in the record, including whether the entity generates its own revenue or instead receives funds from the sovereign treasury, and "the extent of the

sovereign's actual control . . . over the entity's business activities," a notion explicitly excluded from the analysis of both the trial court (24 CT 005763-66) and the Court of Appeal (Opinion at p. 22), consistent with *Trudgeon, supra*, 71 Cal.App.4th at p. 641.

The State recognizes that this is not a pure legal issue by requesting remand for further proceedings applying its proposed "new test" under its proposed "new burden of proof" on the Tribal Entities. (E.g., AOB at p. 47.) Further, the State presents new facts in its Opening Brief, including the wholly irrelevant questions of records on file with the United States Patent Office and information contained on the lending websites. (AOB at pp. 8-10, 14-16.)

The general rule restricting new theories on appeal exists for a good reason. The "test" that the State promotes requires factual considerations specifically relevant to the "arm-of-the-state" analysis, which were never admitted or tested below. And the State admits that the limited, jurisdictional arm-of-the-tribe facts that informed the proceedings below would not satisfy its new theory on the appeal. Thus, if this Court were to accept the State's new legal theories and burden of proof, virtually every ruling and order issued by the trial court below in reliance on the State's previous legal positions, and every fact and exhibit admitted into evidence in reliance upon that legal position, would become a nullity—a seven-year long waste of the California judicial system's efforts and resources. This cannot be permitted.

## **II. The Court of Appeal Properly and Consistently Applied Binding and Persuasive Federal Indian Law Principles and Existing California Jurisprudence**

Contrary to the State's assertions, California arm-of-the-tribe jurisprudence is coherent and consistent with binding and persuasive federal Indian law authorities, and the principles upon which the Court of

Appeal Opinion were based have recently been confirmed by both the United States Supreme Court and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. (See *Bay Mills*, *supra*, 134 S.Ct. 2024; *White*, *supra*, 2014 WL 4211421.) The State’s characterization of existing arm-of-the-tribe jurisprudence as so fatally flawed as to require total extermination of its federal Indian law origin is manifestly wrong.

**A. The Court of Appeal Properly Applied Federal Indian Law and California Authorities in Analyzing Arm-of-the-Tribe Immunity**

A major defect in the State’s reasoning derives from its failure to acknowledge the basic precedential doctrines that underlie a California court’s analysis of tribal sovereign immunity. This Court is the highest authority in the State of California. (E.g., *People v. Jasso* (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 1354, 1366.) The decisions of sister states—even the highest courts of the sister states—are not binding, and will be persuasive only in the absence of other controlling authority. (E.g., *Gutierrez v. Superior Court* (1994) 24 Cal.App.4th 153, 170; 16 Cal. Jur. 3d (2014) Courts § 317.)

When faced with questions of federal law, this Court is bound by decisions of the United States Supreme Court. (16 Cal. Jur. 3d (2014) Courts § 322; see also *Gates v. Discovery Communications, Inc.* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 679, 672.) Decisions of federal circuit courts, while not binding upon this Court, are persuasive and entitled to great weight. (E.g., *Etcheverry v. Tri-Ag Service, Inc.* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 316, 320.) And where multiple lower federal courts agree, this Court “should hesitate to reject their authority.” (*Id.* at p. 321; see also *Conrad v. Bank of America* (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 133 [noting that “generally a refusal to adhere to federal precedent occurs where federal decisions provide scant authority for the proposition urged or are divided on an issue”].)

It is well established that “tribal immunity is a matter of federal law and is not subject to diminution by the States.” (*Bay Mills, supra*, 134 S.Ct. at p. 2031 [quoting *Kiowa, supra*, 523 U.S. at p. 756; see also *Three Affiliated Tribes of the Fort Berthold Reservation v. Wold Engineering* (1986) 476 U.S. 877, 891 (hereafter *Wold*); *Washington v. Confederated Tribes of Colville Reservation* (1980) 447 U.S. 134, 154].) The question squarely before this Court is what factors should be considered in determining whether MNES and SFS are entitled to tribal sovereign immunity. Thus, this Court’s analysis must be guided by federal Indian law principles. Accordingly, this Court is bound by the decisions of the Supreme Court and should give great weight to the federal circuit decisions that have addressed these issues.

The Court of Appeal properly relied on binding and persuasive federal decisions analyzing arm-of-the-tribe status, as well as prior decisions of its own and sister districts. The Court of Appeal was required by stare decisis to follow the prior decisions of its own district (see, e.g., *Sierra Club v. San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Com.* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 489, 503-05), and was entitled to give its sister district decisions deference. (See, e.g., *Mega Life and Health Ins. Co. v. Superior Court* (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1522, 1529.) Although this Court is not so constrained, it should affirm the Opinion of the Court of Appeal as it correctly applied well-recognized Indian law principles and binding Supreme Court precedent to determine MNES and SFS are sufficiently related to their respective tribes to share in their tribal sovereign immunity.

**B. The Court of Appeal Properly Synthesized and Applied Existing Binding and Persuasive Arm-of-the-Tribe Law**

The Court of Appeal properly adhered to its obligations to consider and apply binding and persuasive federal Indian law, as well as existing California decisions when deciding questions of tribal sovereign immunity.

At that time, four prior California decisions had addressed arm-of-the-tribe immunity. The earliest decision was *Trudgeon, supra*, 71 Cal.App.4th 632, decided by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in 1999. *Trudgeon* adopted a three-factor arm-of-the-tribe test arising from the Minnesota Supreme Court's decision in *Gavle v. Little Six, Inc.* (Minn. 1996) 555 N.W.2d 284 (hereafter *Gavle*): (1) whether the business is organized for a purpose governmental in nature, rather than commercial; (2) whether the tribe and the business entity are closely linked in governing structure and characteristics; and (3) whether federal policies intended to promote Indian tribal autonomy are furthered by the extension of immunity to the business entity. (Opinion at p. 15 [citing *Trudgeon, supra*, 71 Cal.App.4th at p. 638] [citing *Gavle, supra*, at pp. 294-95].) Notably, *Trudgeon* correctly expressed reservations about the viability of *Gavle's* first factor given the United States Supreme Court's subsequent holdings that sovereign immunity extends specifically to tribal **commercial** enterprises. (*Trudgeon, supra*, at p. 639.)

The second decision, *Redding Rancheria v. Superior Court* (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 384 (hereafter *Redding Rancheria*), was decided by the Third District Court of Appeal in 2001. *Redding Rancheria*, incorporated, but did not elaborate upon, the Fourth District's analysis in *Trudgeon*. (*Redding Rancheria, supra*, at p. 389 [citing *Trudgeon, supra*, 71 Cal.App.4th at pp. 639-42].)

The third decision, *Ameriloan*, was the Second District's 2008 opinion in the instant case on remand from this Court with a mandate to reconsider its prior erroneous decision that commercial, off-reservation conduct was not covered by tribal sovereign immunity, as this was contrary to *Kiowa, supra*, 523 U.S. 751. (*Ameriloan, supra*, 169 Cal.App.4th 81.) *Ameriloan* properly incorporated *Trudgeon* and *Redding Rancheria* and only refined the arm-of-the-tribe analysis to take out the "purpose" factor to

comply with *Kiowa*, explaining: “the relevant question for purposes of applying tribal sovereign immunity ‘is not whether the activity may be characterized as a business, which is irrelevant under *Kiowa*, but whether the entity acts as an arm of the tribe so that its activities are properly deemed those of the tribe.’” (*Ameriloan, supra*, at p. 98 [quoting *Allen v. Gold Country Casino* (9th Cir. 2006) 464 F.3d 1044, 1046].)

California’s arm-of-the-tribe analysis was both internally consistent and consistent with persuasive federal authorities until the Fourth District’s decision in *American Property Management Corp. v. Superior Court* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 491 (hereafter *American Property*). *American Property* was the first California case to consider an arm-of-the-tribe analysis articulated by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals in *Breakthrough, supra*, 629 F.3d 1173.<sup>4</sup> Recognizing that federal law is highly persuasive in tribal sovereign immunity matters, the Fourth District found the Tenth Circuit’s analysis to be “helpful.” (*American Property, supra*, at p. 501.) *American Property* also considered arm-of-the-tribe discussions in such persuasive and relevant authority as *Inyo County, Cal. v. Paiute-Shoshone Indians of the Bishop Colony* (2003) 538 U.S. 701; *Allen v. Gold Country Casino, supra*, 464 F.3d at p. 1046; and *Trudgeon, supra*, 71 Cal.App.4th at p. 638 (*American Property, supra*, at pp. 500-01), and noted correctly that “although the [*Breakthrough*] factors overlap somewhat when applied, they accurately reflect the general focus of the applicable federal and state case law” (*id.* at p. 501).

Accordingly, *American Property* adopted *Breakthrough’s* six-part test, which considers: (1) method of creation; (2) purpose; (3) structure, ownership, and management, including amount of control the tribe has over the entities; (4) whether the tribe intended for the entities to have tribal

---

<sup>4</sup> *American Property* was decided after the trial court entered its order dismissing the complaint.

sovereign immunity; (5) the financial relationship between the tribe and the entities; and (6) whether the purposes of tribal sovereign immunity are served by granting immunity to the entities. (*American Property, supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 501 [citing *Breakthrough, supra*, 629 F.3d at p. 1181].) In applying those factors, *American Property* examined collateral authority across various jurisdictions and ultimately concluded that the subject entity was not an arm of the tribe, primarily because it was incorporated under state law. (*American Property, supra*, at pp. 502-08 [“As we have explained, the most significant fact is [the entity’s] organization as a California limited liability company.”].)

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